#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 93,344

ALACHUA COUNTY, FLORIDA, a political subdivision of the State of Florida,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA, et al.

Appellee,

and

THE CITY OF GAINESVILLE; THE UNIVERSITY OF FLORIDA; SANTA FE COMMUNITY COLLEGE; FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT CO.; FLORIDA POWER CORP.; FLORIDA ELECTRIC COOPERATIVES ASSOC., INC.; THE TOWN OF MICANOPY; THE CITY OF ALACHUA; THE CITY OF WALDO; HOWARD J. SCHARPS,

Intervenors.

# INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT ALACHUA COUNTY, FLORIDA

On Appeal From the Eighth Judicial Circuit, In and For Alachua County, Florida Case Nos. 97-3088-CA, 97-3518-CA, 97-4368-CA, 97-4715-CA

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This case is an appeal under Rule 9.030(a)(1)(B)(i), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, from a final order issued pursuant to Chapter 75, Florida Statutes, that denied validation of the County's proposed issuance of not exceeding \$20,000,000 Alachua County, Florida Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 1997.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

## nature of the case

This case arises out of a bond validation proceeding under Chapter 75, Florida Statutes, that was initiated by Alachua County, Florida ("the County"). The County filed a complaint, seeking the circuit court's validation of not exceeding \$20,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of Alachua County, Florida Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 1997 (the "Bonds"). The salient issue to be determined was whether the Electric Utility Privilege Fee<sup>1</sup> was a valid home rule revenue source that could be pledged for payment of the Bonds. By entering final summary judgment against the County, the circuit court denied the validation. (Final Summary Judgment at 9, attached as Appendix A-1).

### introduction of parties

The County is a charter county, operating under Article VIII, section 1(g), Florida Constitution. By virtue of its charter, the County possesses all powers of local self-government that are not inconsistent with general law or special act approved by the voters. Under this home rule authority, the Board of County Commissioners of the County ("the Board"), adopted the Electric Utility Privilege Fee Ordinance as Ordinance 97-12 on August 12,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All capitalized terms in this brief are references to actual defined terms in the Electric Utility Privilege Fee Ordinance, Ordinance 97-12, attached as Appendix C.

1997.<sup>2</sup> (Ord. 97-12, attached as Appendix C). In response to the adoption of Ordinance 97-12, the City of Gainesville, the University of Florida, and Florida Power & Light Company filed lawsuits seeking declaratory and injunctive relief against the Electric Utility Privilege Fee. These lawsuits were consolidated with the bond validation proceeding.<sup>3</sup> In addition to these three parties, Florida Power Corporation, Santa Fe Community College, the Florida Electric Cooperatives Association, the City of Alachua, the City of Waldo, the Town of Micanopy, and Howard J. Scharps, also intervened in the bond validation proceeding (collectively referred to as "the Intervenors"). The State Attorney appeared on behalf of all persons with an interest in or affected by the issuance of the Bonds.

# the structure of the electric utility privilege fee

The Electric Utility Privilege Fee Ordinance grants privileges in public property to the Electric Utilities that operate in the County. For example, section 2.01 grants "[e]ach Electric Utility . . . an Electric Privilege to use and occupy the County Rights-of-Way in the unincorporated and incorporated areas of the County for the construction, location, and relocation of its Electric Facilities . . .. " (App. C, Ord. 97-12, § 2.01(A)). In exchange

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ordinance 97-12 was amended by Ordinance 97-13 to change the collection date of the Electric Utility Privilege Fee from October 1, 1997 to October 1, 1998.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The City of Gainesville, the University of Florida, and Florida Power & Light also formally intervened in the bond validation proceeding.

for this Electric Privilege, the Ordinance imposes an Electric Utility Privilege Fee ("Privilege Fee") on all Electric Utilities that provide electric service in the County and that use County Rights-of-Way in operating their utilities. (App. C, Ord. 97-12, § 2.05(A)). The Privilege Fee is charged at a rate of three percent of each Electric Utility's Gross Revenues<sup>4</sup> in the County. (App. C, Ord. 97-12, § 2.05(A)(1),(2)).

The Board, as a part of the Privilege Fee Ordinance, specifically concluded that the Privilege Fee "is imposed against each Electric Utility upon its privileged use of County Rights-of-Way . . .." (App. C, Ord. 97-12, § 2.05(D)). Reiterating the nature of the Privilege Fee, the Board further declared, "The Electric Utility Privilege Fee is imposed upon every Electric Utility for the privilege of conducting an electric business on the County Rights-of-Way . ..." (App. C, Ord. 97-12, § 2.05(E)). The Board further articulated that the Privilege Fee was imposed for the following purposes:

(A) reasonable compensation for the privileges granted in this Ordinance to use and occupy the County Rights-of-Way for the construction, location or relocation of Electric Facilities;
(B) fair rental return on the privileged use of public property for a proprietary purpose; and (C) payment of the cost of regulating the County Rights-of-Way and protecting the public

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "Gross Revenues" is defined as "those revenues received by the Electric Utility from the retail sale of electricity to customers in the unincorporated and incorporated areas of the County." (App. C, Ord. 97-12, § 1.01).

in the use and occupancy of such County Rights-of-Way.

(App. C, Ord. 97-12, § 1.01 (definition of "Electric Utility Privilege Fee")).

In addition to articulating the purposes of the Privilege Fee, the Board concluded that the rate of the Privilege Fee -- three percent of Gross Revenues -- was "not based on the extent and scope of the Electric Facilities . . . located in County Rights-of-Way." (App. C, Ord. 97-12, § 2.05(D)). Rather, the Privilege Fee calculation was "declared to be reasonable and consistent in amount and within the method of calculation historically bargained for by electric utilities in securing a franchise from local governments which granted a privileged use of rights-of-way and other public property." (App. C, Ord. 97-12, § 2.05(D)).

In further recognition of the nature of the Privilege Fee as functionally equivalent to a franchise fee, Ordinance 97-12 contemplates that each Electric Utility will collect the Privilege Fee, as a separate line item, on the Electric Utility customers' bills. (App. C, Ord. 97-12, § 2.06(A)); <u>see also</u> Rules 25-6.100(2)(c)(6), and 25-6.100(7), Fla. Admin. Code. Furthermore, the Privilege Fee Ordinance allows Electric Utilities to retain one percent of the Electric Utility Fee proceeds from their customers as "reimbursement for expenses incurred in collecting and transmitting" the Privilege Fee to the County. (App. C, Ord. 97-12, § 2.06(B)).

## the pledge of the Privilege Fee proceeds to the bonds

In addition to granting privileges and imposing a fee, the Privilege Fee Ordinance authorized the Board to issue bonds for financing public improvements payable from Electric Utility Privilege Fee proceeds. (App. C, Ord. 97-12, §3.01). In an exercise of this authority, the Board adopted a bond resolution on August 12, 1997, as Resolution 97-79, so pledging the Electric Utility Privilege Fee proceeds. (Reso. 97-79, attached as Appendix D) ("the Bond Resolution"). In addition to the proceeds of the Electric Utility Privilege Fee, the Bonds were also payable from any Electric Utility Franchise Fees and any non-ad valorem revenue sources designated by subsequent resolution. (App. D, Reso. 97-79).

The Bond Resolution was later amended on October 13, 1997, by Resolution 97-116, to specifically enumerate the capital improvement projects for which the Privilege Fee could be pledged. (Reso. 97-116, attached as Appendix E). For example, Resolution 97-116 defined these public purpose projects as including the New Judicial Annex, the Eastgate Renovations (Sheriff), the New Human Services Facility, the Emergency Communications Center, the Administration Building Expansions, the Sheriff's Office Renovation, the Corrections Expansion, and the Fire Rescue Administration Building. (App. E, Reso. 97-116, § 3(A)).<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> As a part of the Privilege Fee program, the Board also adopted a resolution of intent on August 12, 1997, as Resolution 97-80 (the "Resolution of Intent"). (Reso. 97-80, attached as

#### procedural history

On or about August 15, 1997, the County filed its complaint for validation in this case pursuant to Chapter 75, Florida Statutes. (Complaint for Validation, attached as Appendix B). The validation sought the approval of not exceeding \$20,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of Alachua County, Florida Capital Improvement Revenue Bonds, Series 1997. The purpose of the lawsuit was to seek judicial validation of the Privilege Fee before the County issued the Bonds, payable from Privilege Fee revenue. (App. B, Complaint at 6). After the complaint was filed, the circuit court issued an Order to Show Cause on October 15, 1997, directing the State Attorney to appear and show why the Bonds should not be validated. The County's bond validation lawsuit sought a determination as to the public purpose of the projects and the authority of the County to pledge the revenue from its Privilege Fee to payment of the Bonds. Within that context, the suit additionally concerned the validity of the County's Privilege Fee which was imposed under Ordinance 97-12, as amended. In fact, the primary issue for the validation was whether the County had the authority to adopt an ordinance imposing the Privilege Fee.

A final hearing on the circuit court's Order to Show Cause was scheduled for April 1, 2, and 3, 1998. Prior to those dates,

Appendix F). The Resolution of Intent was amended as Resolution 97-101 to reflect the change in the date of collection of the Privilege Fee from October 1, 1997 to October 1, 1998. The Resolution of Intent articulated the Board's direction to use the Privilege Fee proceeds for both the payment of the Bonds and for future ad valorem tax relief.

intervenors Florida Power & Light, Santa Fe Community College, Howard Scharps, Florida Power Corporation, and the City of Gainesville filed motions for summary judgment. After the hearing was held on these motions on April 1, 1998, the circuit court granted final summary judgment against the County, finding that the Privilege Fee was a tax, requiring general law authorization. (App. A-1, Final Summary Judgment at 6).<sup>6</sup> The County then timely filed this appeal (Notice of Appeal, attached as Appendix A).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The entry of a final summary judgment at the Order to Show Cause hearing was a procedural error. A bond validation proceeding under Chapter 75, Florida Statutes, is a statutory, summary proceeding which renders the disposition of actions pursuant to Rule 1.510, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, inappropriate. However, the procedural error is harmless and does not impede this Court's review of this appeal for the following reasons: no additional intervenors, not joined in this appeal, appeared at the noticed show cause hearing; no genuine issue of a material fact exists within the scope of the bond validation proceeding that would have required testimony or evidence at the show cause hearing; and any matters of factual dispute are collateral issues not available for resolution under the limited scope of a bond validation proceeding. <u>See Taylor v. Lee County</u>, 498 So.2d 424 (Fla. 1986).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The County has the constitutional and statutory power to impose the Electric Utility Privilege Fee by ordinance. No inconsistent general law and no elector approved special act restricts the specific exercise of home rule authority at issue in this case. Local government charges imposed for the relinquishment of specific property rights are not taxes that require general law authorization. <u>See City of Pensacola v. Southern Bell Telephone</u> <u>Company</u>, 37 So. 820 (Fla. 1905); and <u>Jacksonville Port Authority v.</u> <u>Alamo Rent-a-Car</u>, 600 So. 2d 1159 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), <u>rev. denied</u>, 613 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1992). The circuit court erred in failing to distinguish the proprietary power of a local government to impose rental charges for a privileged use of public property from the police and legislative powers to impose regulatory fees and fees to fund a governmental service.

The Privilege Fee is the functional equivalent of a franchise fee. Under Florida law, a fee charged pursuant to a franchise for the local government's relinquishment of specific property rights has been held to be a valid fee and not an unauthorized tax. <u>See City of Plant City v. Mayo</u>, 337 So. 2d 966 (Fla. 1976); and <u>Santa</u> <u>Rosa County v. Gulf Power Company</u>, 635 So. 2d 96 (Fla 1st DCA 1994), <u>rev. denied</u>, 645 So. 2d 452 (Fla. 1994). The only difference between a traditional franchise fee and the Privilege Fee is that the electric utility does not bargain for any vested rights in the County Rights-of-Way, in exchange for which it consents to pay the Privilege Fee. The presence of a bargaining

situation or the consent of the electric utility is constitutionally irrelevant to the validity of a rental charge imposed for a privileged use of public property.

In addition, the circuit court's conclusion that the Privilege Fee is an unauthorized tax because the amount of the Privilege Fee is calculated as a percentage of the Gross Revenues of the Electric Utility, rather than on the extent of actual use of County Rightsof-Way, is also fundamental error. The reliance on the Privilege Fee's calculation as a basis for finding the Privilege Fee to be invalid ignores the existing Florida Public Service Commission's ("FPSC's") electric utility regulatory scheme and the fundamental separation of power concepts embodied in the Florida Constitution.

All electric utility rental fees whether imposed unilaterally or pursuant to a franchise agreement are calculated as a percentage of gross revenues received from the retail sale of electricity within the local government's jurisdiction. This calculation of the fee is mandated by the FPSC through Rules 25-6.100(2)(c)(6), and 25-6.100(7), Florida Administrative Code. This mandate flows from the fact that there is no practical method to correlate physical placement of discrete electric poles or other electric facilities in County Rights-of-Way with individual electric utility customers. The gross revenue derived from the retail sale of electricity within the applicable jurisdiction is a reasonable measure of the extent of electric utility right-of-way use.

In the Electric Utility Privilege Fee Ordinance, the County made specific legislative determinations that the method of

calculating the Privilege Fee and the rate at which it was imposed constituted reasonable consideration for the expansive relinquishment of property rights in all County Rights-of-Way of the entire County Road System. Furthermore, the Electric Utility Privilege Fee Ordinance contained legislative findings that the method of calculating the Privilege Fee was consistent with the fees historically bargained for by electric utilities in securing a franchise from local governments. Without a showing that these findings are arbitrary, the circuit court's failure to defer to such legislative findings is also reversible error.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. THE COUNTY'S CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY HOME RULE AUTHORITY INCLUDES THE POWER TO IMPOSE THE ELECTRIC UTILITY PRIVILEGE FEE BY ORDINANCE.

The 1968 revision to the Florida Constitution vested charter counties with "all powers of local self-government not inconsistent with general law, or with special law approved by vote of the electors." Art. VIII, § 1(g), Fla. Const. The constitutional power of self-government for charter counties is embodied in Article VIII, section 1(g), Florida Constitution. This provision declares:

> Counties operating under county charters shall have all powers of local self-government not inconsistent with general law, or with special law approved by vote of the electors. The governing body of a county operating under a charter may enact county ordinances not inconsistent with general law. The charter shall provide which shall prevail in the event of conflict between county and municipal ordinances.

## <u>Id.</u>7

This power of self-government to regulate, to fund and provide essential services, and to legislate by ordinance flows directly from the Florida Constitution to a county through the provisions of the county's charter. No legislative authorization is needed. Consequently, upon the approval of a charter by the county's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Alachua County is a charter county that governs under Article VIII, section 1(g), Florida Constitution.

citizens, the county's power of self-government, as embodied in its charter, is a direct constitutional grant.<sup>8</sup>

The 1968 revision to the Florida Constitution also allocated the taxing power between the state and local governments. Under this allocation, all forms of taxes, other than ad valorem taxes, require general law authorization. Article VII, section 1(a), Florida Constitution, states as follows:

> No tax shall be levied except in pursuance of law. No state ad valorem taxes shall be levied upon real estate or tangible personal property. All other forms of taxation shall be preempted to the state except as provided by general law.

Id.; see also Art. VII, § 9(a), Fla. Const. (authorizing counties to impose ad valorem taxes). These provisions of the Constitution dictate that no county can levy any tax, other than ad valorem taxes, without general law authorization to do so. Thus, the constitutional inquiries for a charge that is imposed by county ordinance, in the absence of general law authorization, are: (1) is the charge a tax and, if not, (2) is the charge inconsistent with general law? If no inconsistent general law preempts the imposition of the charge and if the charge meets the applicable Florida case law requirements, it is within the constitutional and statutory power of home rule. See, e.g., City of Boca Raton v.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> By contrast, the constitutional home rule authority of non-charter counties needed implementing legislation. "Counties not operating under county charters shall have such power of selfgovernment as is provided by general or special law. . .." Art. VIII, § 1(f), Fla. Const. The general law implementation of home rule power for non-charter counties is section 125.01, Florida Statutes. General law provisions also supplement or limit the constitutional home rule power for charter counties.

<u>State</u>, 595 So. 2d 25 (Fla. 1992) (tracing the evolution of local government home rule authority to impose special assessments without general law authorization).

Consequently, the issue in this appeal is very narrow and simply stated: does the Privilege Fee meet the case law requirements for a fee that is imposed in exchange for a privileged use of public property? The circuit court concluded that the Privilege Fee was not a reasonable rental charge, was not a valid user fee, and was not the constitutional equivalent of a franchise fee. Thus, according to the circuit court, the Privilege Fee was a tax that required general law authorization. Respectfully, but simply, the court was wrong.

# A. Counties Possess The Home Rule Authority To Impose A Rental Charge For The Privileged Use Of Public Property.

No authority could be more inherent than the power of a local government to charge for the privileged use of property that it owns. Cases decided under both the 1885 and 1968 Florida Constitutions recognize this inherent authority to unilaterally impose rental charges for a privileged use of public property. <u>See City of Pensacola v. Southern Bell Telephone Company</u>, 37 So. 820 (Fla. 1905) (upholding a rental charge for utility use of municipal streets under the 1885 Florida Constitution); and <u>Jacksonville Port</u> <u>Authority v. Alamo Rent-a-Car. Inc.</u>, 600 So. 2d 1159 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), <u>rev. denied</u>, 613 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1992)(upholding the unilateral imposition of a gross revenue percentage fee on

businesses using public facilities to generate customers under the 1968 Florida Constitution). In addition, the United States Supreme Court has also recognized the historical authority of local governments to charge fees in exchange for utilities' use of rights-of-way as being in the nature of a rental. <u>See City of St.</u> <u>Louis v. Western Union Telegraph Co.</u>, 148 U.S. 92 (1893). The imposition of such a rental fee need not be negotiated and may be imposed unilaterally by ordinance. <u>See Jacksonville Port Authority</u> <u>v. Alamo Rent-a-Car. Inc.</u>, 600 So. 2d 1159 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992).<sup>9</sup>

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