SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 93,344

ALACHUA COUNTY, FLORIDA, a political subdivision of the State of Florida,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA, et al.,

Appellees.

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ALACHUA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT COMPANY

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

# C. The "Privilege Fee" Does Not Grant A Franchise

Based on its review of "extensive evidence" in the record and this Court's decision in <u>Plant City</u>, the circuit court determined that "contrary to the County's assertion and the 'legislative declaration' within the Ordinance itself, the Privilege Fee is not the 'functional equivalent' of a franchise fee and cannot be analyzed as such for the purposes of determining whether or not it constitutes a tax." A.1.1,8-9. This determination is supported by the undisputed record evidence establishing numerous fundamental differences between franchise fees and the "Privilege Fee," and virtually no similarities. Id.; supra pp. 13-15. The County's blind insistence that "the Privilege Fee is what we say it is no matter what the facts," is an attempt to conceal its taxing power with semantics, contrary

to Florida law. <u>See Port Orange</u>, 650 So. 2d at 3; <u>Alachua County</u> <u>v. Adams</u>, 702 So. 2d 1253, 1254 (Fla. 1997).

The County would ignore what it cannot explain. It admits, for example, that franchise fees, unlike the "Privilege Fee," are bargained for and agreed to in exchange for vested rights for a term of years. Br. at 9, 27, 29. These admitted differences -while not the only ones -- are all that are necessary to void any comparison between the two fees. <u>Plant City</u>, 337 So. 2d at 973. The County, however, says these differences are "<u>irrelevant</u>" to the validity of the "Privilege Fee," arguing that "lack of consent by the Electric Utilities cannot transform <u>an otherwise</u> <u>valid fee</u> into a tax." Br. at 9-10, 28-31 (emphasis added). This circular reasoning assumes the validity of the very fee whose validity is at issue, and ignores <u>Plant City</u>'s holding that but for the very characteristics of franchise fees declared irrelevant by the County, they are taxes which "cities would lack lawful authority to impose." 337 So. 2d at 973.<sup>30</sup>

The fundamental component -- and fatal flaw -- of the County's theory is the insupportable misstatement that franchise fees are paid merely for the use of public rights-of-way. Br. at 27-30. That has been amply demonstrated to be untrue, for FPL's franchise fees are paid for <u>all</u> of the <u>vested</u> rights contained in its franchise agreements, the most essential of which is the local government's long-term non-compete agreement. While these

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Thus, the County's suggestion that the circuit court's judgment would require a constitutional amendment requiring utilities' consent to <u>taxes</u> is patently absurd. Br. at 30-31.

contracts recognize FPL's right to place its facilities in rights-of-way, the franchise fee is not based on any costs, value or return associated with such use. This, of course, comports fully with Florida law, which recognizes the differences between true franchise agreements and government <u>regulation</u> of utility use of public rights-of-way. <u>Supra pp. 22-26</u>.

Furthermore, the County simply dismisses the dispositive fact that, regardless of whether the fees paid under any given franchise agreement constitute payment for use of rights-of-way, consideration for an agreement not to compete, some combination of these or something else, they are still bargained for and agreed to contractually in exchange for the grant of a franchise, which distinguishes them, factually and legally, from the "Privilege Fee." This is certainly true for all of the franchise cases<sup>31</sup> cited by the County as authority for its argument that franchise fees are right-of-way use fees.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Throughout its brief (see, e.g., Br. at 18, 20, 26 & 30), the County improperly blends franchise cases such as <u>Plant City</u> and <u>Santa Rosa</u> with regulatory fee or user fee cases such as Pensacola, St. Louis and Alamo without any recognition that the factual and legal frameworks for such cases are vastly different from each other and from the instant case. For example, after discussing Pensacola and St. Louis, which involve regulatory charges for the use of right-of-way but no franchises, the County footnotes to two franchise cases from other jurisdictions for the proposition that "[0]ther jurisdictions also recognize that franchise fees are imposed as rent for using public rights-ofway." Br. at 20 n.14. These two cases -- City of Dallas v. FCC, 118 F.3d 393 (5th Cir. 1997) and City of Little Rock v. AT&T, 888 S.W.2d 290 (Ark. 1994), involve cable television and telecommunication franchises, respectively, granted under statutory and regulatory schemes that have no application to the facts and law of the instant case.

For example, the County relies upon the Santa Rosa opinion for authority that counties may <u>impose</u> franchise fees for using county rights-of-way. Br. at 27-28. A fair reading of Santa Rosa shows otherwise. First, the so-called "imposition" of franchise fees was pursuant to bargained-for franchise agreements. 635 So. 2d at 98, 100 (county ordinance "granted a non-exclusive franchise ... and imposed a franchise fee" pursuant to "the authority of the counties to grant franchises ...."). Second, the fact that the franchise agreements in Santa Rosa permitted the franchisees to use county rights-of-way does not mean the counties could unilaterally impose the same fees for right-of-way use without the agreements.<sup>32</sup> To the contrary, the court held that the franchise fees in that case -- even when viewed as consideration for right-of-way use -- were not taxes because they were contractual. Id, at 103 (citing Plant City and Hialeah Gardens).<sup>33</sup> Third, the determinative holding in Santa Rosa was that, even assuming the franchise ordinances in guestion to be valid, the utilities' unilateral termination of their franchises agreements based on the failure of certain conditions therein was lawful. See id. Thus, even assuming arguendo that the "Privilege Fee" is a right-of-way use fee, which it is not, its unilateral imposition without a franchise agreement renders

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Any such holding would conflict with <u>Florida Cities</u>, 446 So. 2d at 1112-14, and <u>Oviedo</u>, 704 So. 2d at 207-08.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> "We therefore conclude that the trial court erred in characterizing the franchise fees at bar, which constituted consideration for the <u>contractual</u> grant of the right to use county rights-of-way, as taxes." <u>Id.</u> at 103 (emphasis added).

## it a tax under Plant City and Santa Rosa.

Clinging to the sinking premise that the circuit court invalidated the "Privilege Fee" solely because it was calculated on a percentage basis, Br. at 25-26, the County devotes an entire section of its brief to the reasonableness of its "fee." The argument is as invalid as the "fee."

The County defends its arbitrary "fee" amount by resorting inevitably to the distinctly different franchise agreement. That is, its "fee" can be "imposed" on a percentage-of-revenues basis because that is how franchise fees are "imposed." <u>Id.</u> at 32. That assumes an identity between the two that does not exist.

As with any comparison of apples to oranges, the County's effort provides no support for its tax. The County argues that none of the franchise agreements it refers to "bases the franchise fee on the extent of actual physical use" and that "in none of the decisions approving consistent franchise fee amounts do the courts require a nexus between the amount of the fee and the extent of public property use." Br. at 33, 36. First of all, courts do not "approve" franchise fee amounts. The fees are negotiated. This is demonstrated by <u>Santa Rosa</u>, where the trial court concluded that franchise fees were taxes due to a lack of evidence that the fees were based upon a reasonable right-of-way rental value. 635 So. 2d at 103. The First District reversed on the authority of <u>Plant City</u> that franchise fees are not taxes but are contractual -- not because a "privilege fee" need not be based on extent of use, as suggested by the County. Br. at 26.

More importantly, the franchise fees in Santa Rosa are not

based on the extent of right-of-way use, and no cases require such a nexus, because the use of rights-of-way is not the distinguishing characteristic of franchise agreements, and franchise fees are not negotiated, calculated or paid on the basis of any costs or value associated with such use. Thus, in trying to prove that the "Privilege Fee" is a reasonable fee for use of rights-of-way, the County has demonstrated that it is not a right-of-way use fee at all.

The County continues its retreat from the record and the law with this factually bankrupt assertion:

The underlying assumption [of franchise agreements] is that once an electric utility engages in the retail sale of electricity within a jurisdiction by exercising a privileged use of public property, the amount of gross revenue from the retail sale of electricity is an appropriate measure of the extent of right-of-way usage or its value as a business expense of the electric utility.

Br. at 36. What is particularly disturbing -- and significant -about these endless, unsubstantiated assumptions is that not only is the record bereft of factual support, but the County never, in any way, attempted to build a record on any of these issues below. The County is trying to "write around" the decision below by "creating" a new record on appeal. All of the relevant facts and law show that right-of-way use is not the essential purpose of a franchise, not the purpose for which franchise fees are paid, and not the basis on which such fees are calculated.

In similar fashion, the County argues, with no record support, that the percentage-of-revenue method of calculating franchise fees "is almost universally applied" because it was

"predestined" by PSC customer billing requirements. Br. at 37. These rules do not regulate the amount or calculation method of franchise fees, which are invariably negotiated by the franchisor and franchisee. Fla. Admin. Code R. 25-6.100(7) expressly states: "This subsection only specifies the method of collection of a franchise fee," which must be limited to customers within the jurisdiction. A.36.26-27 (emphasis added).

The County's argument that "[t]here is no practical method to equate the number of discrete electric poles or other electric facilities with individual electric customer bills," Br. at 37, is meaningless. Franchise fees are not calculated on a per pole basis, so there is no need to speculate how such a hypothetical franchise fee would be collected. Nor, it must be emphasized, did the County produce a shred of proof that no practical method exists. The County's troublesome view that "it's so because we say it's so" has broadened from its ordinance to its brief.<sup>34</sup>

In its last argument, the County attempts to justify the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Apparently recognizing that the per pole regulatory fee in <u>Pensacola</u> undermines its argument, the County again turns to its misplaced PSC argument. The County argues that per pole charges were doable in 1905 because "public utilities were unregulated and the per pole charge ... was simply another business expense of the utility," whereas "modern concepts of rate regulation and direct customer billing dictate a percentage of gross revenues as the method of calculating" "fees paid as a reasonable rental for electric utility use of public rights-ofway." Br. at 37. Once again, the County draws meaningless and inaccurate distinctions. The utilities in <u>Pensacola</u> were regulated by the city, which imposed a per pole charge pursuant to its regulatory powers. Neither this case nor the PSC billing collection rules have anything to do with the fee calculation method agreed to in bargained-for franchise agreements.

ordinance's provisions making the "Privilege Fee" a debt of the electric customers and providing for the collection of that debt by the utilities. The County argues that it was "compelled" to treat its "Privilege Fee" in this manner because "the decision to pass through the Privilege Fee has been preempted to the [PSC]." Br. at 38-40. This argument fails by its own force and confirms yet another basis for the unconstitutionality of Ordinance 97-12. If the PSC has exclusive jurisdiction to decide how the "Privilege Fee" (or any other charge) should be collected from customers as part of its rate-setting function, <u>Plant City</u>, 337 So. 2d at 974 n.22 & accompanying text, this entire subject matter is preempted to the PSC and the County has no authority to act in this area. <u>Florida Power Corp. v. Seminole County</u>, 579 So. 2d 105, 107 (Fla. 1991). Secondly, the cited PSC rule pertains to franchise fees, which the County's "fee" is not.

# D. The Amici Briefs Offer No Valid Basis For Reversal

The brief of Amici Curiae Florida Association of Counties and Florida Association of County Attorneys adds nothing to the County's arguments and suffers from all the same flaws. It ignores <u>Port Orange</u>, mischaracterizes the <u>Alamo</u> user fee as a rental fee and a franchise fee, and inaccurately states that <u>Plant City</u>, <u>Rosalind</u> and <u>Alamo</u> "approved" a six percent franchise fee. Assoc. Br. at 3-6. It repeats the County's mantra that the "Privilege Fee" is the functional equivalent of a franchise fee, yet admits that franchise fees are part of contractual provisions

46

#### STEEL HECTOR & DAVIS LLP

in franchise agreements. <u>Id.</u> at 5.<sup>35</sup> It also repeats the non sequitur that because the County chose to mischaracterize its tax as the functional equivalent of a franchise fee, the circuit court's recognition that franchise fees are contractual means that electric utilities can veto any fee or tax. <u>Id.</u> at 8-9.

Significantly, however, these amici admit that the per pole charge in <u>Pensacola</u> "was an exercise of the city's duty <u>to</u> <u>regulate</u> its streets." <u>Id.</u> at 3(emphasis added). They also admit that electric utilities serve as the billing and collection agent for the "Privilege Fee" paid by the customer. <u>Id.</u> at 9.

Amicus City of Altamonte Springs raises numerous factual, legal and conceptual issues that are demonstrably outside of and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> In footnote two of their brief, these amici incorrectly argue that franchise agreements can be unilaterally imposed. The two cases cited -- Telesat Cablevision, Inc. v. City of Riviera Bch., 773 F. Supp. 383 (S.D. Fla. 1991) and Berea College Util. <u>v. Citv of Berea</u>, 691 S.W.2d 235 (Ky. Ct. App. 1985) -- involve vastly different facts, laws and issues than the instant case. Telesat upheld a cable television franchise ordinance enacted under a statutory framework created by Congress and the State of Florida specifically tailored to the regulation of cable television operators as a distinct class, 773 F. Supp. at 385, 391 and 414, which included a unique statutory definition of "franchise." Id. at 388 n.3. Berea upheld the validity of minimum bid requirements in franchise ordinances pursuant to detailed constitutional and statutory provisions for the granting of franchises in Kentucky. 691 S.W.2d at 235-36. Neither case held that franchises can be unilaterally imposed. In fact, both holdings were premised on the contractual nature of franchises. Telesat, 773 F. Supp. at 409 ("Since a franchise is a contract, the regulatory authority has the right to determine with whom it will contract"); Berea, 691 S.W.2d at 237 (franchise fees are not taxes because they are contractual). Florida law holds that local governments cannot unilaterally impose franchise fees as a condition for utility use of rights-of-way. See Florida Cities, 446 So. 2d at 1112-14; <u>Oviedo</u>, 704 So. 2d at 207-08.

contradicted by the record and which involve matters neither before this Court nor the circuit court. It even argues factual matters contrary to findings of fact by the circuit court that are not disputed here. Therefore, its brief is not a legitimate amicus brief and should be given no weight. <u>See Dade County v.</u> <u>Eastern Air Lines, Inc.</u>, 212 So. 2d 7, 8 (Fla. 1968) (striking amicus brief for interjecting non-record matters); <u>Acton v. Ft.</u> <u>Laud. Hosp.</u>, 418 So. 2d 1099, 1101 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) (amici lack "standing to raise issues not available to the parties, nor may they inject issues not raised by the parties"); <u>Ciba-Geigy Ltd.</u> <u>v. Fish Peddler, Inc.</u>, 683 So. 2d 522, 523 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) ("amicus briefs should not argue the facts in issue").

In the course of trying to influence the Court with matters not properly before it, Altamonte makes numerous arguments that have no application here and are just plain wrong.<sup>36</sup> They beg

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